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I. STATEMENT

1. On October 15, 2014, Trial Staff (Complainant or Staff) of the Commission served Respondent TJM Holdings LLC, doing business as ATS (Respondent or TJM), with Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 110542 arising out of one alleged violation of Rule 6102(a)(I) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6 and 49 Code of Regulations (CFR) § 391.23(a)(2), and ten alleged violations of Rule 6102(a)(I) 4 CCR 723-6, and 49 CFR § 395.8(a).
2. On November 6, 2014, counsel for Staff entered his appearance in the proceeding.

3. On November 12, 2014, the Commission referred this matter to an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ).

4. On November 14, 2014, by Interim Decision No. R14-1371-I, the evidentiary hearing in this proceeding was scheduled for December 16, 2014.

5. On December 16, 2014, the above captioned proceeding was called. Counsel for Staff entered his appearance. The Respondent failed to appear. A recess was taken to allow additional time for the Respondent to appear. After a 15-minute recess the proceeding was called again and the Respondent again failed to appear.  

6. The proceeding was then commenced without the presence of the Respondent.

7. Staff offered the testimony of Criminal Investigators (CIs) Nate Riley and Anthony Cummings. Hearing Exhibits 1 through 26 were offered and admitted. 
At the conclusion of the evidence, Staff presented an oral closing statement.  At that point, the ALJ stated the record was to remain open until January 7, 2015 for the Staff to file an affidavit concerning the status of the authorities of the Respondent. The record was closed for all other evidence. The ALJ also allowed Staff to file a statement of position by January 7, 2015.  The matter was then taken under advisement.

8. In reaching this Recommended Decision the ALJ has considered all arguments presented, including those arguments not specifically addressed in this Decision.  Likewise, the ALJ has considered all evidence presented at the hearing, even if the evidence is not specifically addressed in this Decision.
9. Pursuant to § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the ALJ now transmits to the Commission the record of the hearing and a written recommended decision in this matter.
II. FINDINGS OF FACT
10. Nate Riley is a CI employed by the Commission’s Transportation Investigation and Enforcement Section.  His duties include performing safety and compliance reviews (SCRs) on carriers that are regulated by the Commission.

11. Anthony Cummings is a CI employed by the Commission’s Transportation Investigation and Enforcement Section.  His duties include performing SCRs on carriers that are regulated by the Commission

12. Respondent is currently operating with Commission Permits No. CAB-00028 and No. CSB-00201. Hearing Exhibits 3 and 4.  Permit No. CAB-00028 is a permit for charter or scenic bus service and Permit No. CSB-00201 is for a children’s activity bus.  

13. TJM is a limited liability company. The only member of TJM is 
Mr. Tony Dassinger. Hearing Exhibit 1, p.3. TJM has a contract with the Adams County School District to provide transportation for children. 
14. On October 23, 2000, Access Transportation Systems Inc. was incorporated in the State of Colorado.  The sole owner of Access Transportation Systems Inc. was Tony Dassinger. Hearing Exhibit 9.
15. On November 20, 2000, Access Transportation Systems Inc. was served with CPAN No. 26978 containing 90 alleged violations. Hearing Exhibit 7.  The CPAN alleged violations of operating as a common carrier and a contract carrier without a permit or certificate. Id. The business address for Access Transportation Systems was listed as 6586 Brighton Boulevard, Commerce City, Colorado. Id.   

16. On February 23, 2001, an evidentiary hearing was held concerning 
CPAN No. 26978, the Respondent, Access Transportation Systems Inc., failed to appear for the hearing.  In Decision No. R01-201, issued on March 2, 2001 in Proceeding No. 00G-0651CP, Access Transportation Systems Inc. was assessed a civil penalty of $12,000. Access Transportation Systems Inc. was ordered to pay the full amount within ten days of the recommended decision becoming a decision of the Commission.
 Hearing Exhibit 8. 

17. As of December 12, 2014, no payments have been made on the penalty assessment ordered in Decision No. R01-201. Hearing Exhibit 14, p. 1.
18. On September 22, 2003, CPAN No. 28338 was issued to Tony Dassinger. The CPAN alleged two violations of operating without a certificate and two violations of operating without insurance. The CPAN was served upon and signed for by Tony Dassinger. Hearing Exhibit 10.
19. On February 26, 2004, an evidentiary hearing on CPAN No. 28338 was called to order. At the hearing the parties presented a stipulation for a settlement to ALJ Kirkpatrick.  The stipulation was approved by ALJ Kirkpatrick in Decision No. R04-0258,
 issued on March 11, 2004 in Proceeding No. 03G-428CP.  The stipulation had the following provisions:

a) The penalty assessment of $1,600 was to be deferred;

b) Mr. Dassinger was to cease and desist from the activities that led to the issuance of CPAN No. 28338, if Mr. Dassinger violated the cease and desist order with five years of the decision accepting the stipulation, the $1,600 penalty would become payable within 10 days after the effective date of an order finding him in violation of the cease and desist order ;

c) Mr. Dassinger agreed to pay the $12,000 penalty assessed in by Decision No. R01-201.

20. On August 16, 2005, CPAN No. 75959 was issued to and served on Tony Dassinger. The CPAN alleged violations for operating without a certificate and operating without insurance.

21. On October 26, 2005, an evidentiary hearing was held in Proceeding 
No. 05G-345CP. Mr. Dassinger failed to appear for the hearing. In Decision No. R05-1334, issued on November 8, 2005, ALJ Adams ordered a penalty assessment of $12,100. ALJ Adams also found that Mr. Dassinger violated the cease desist order contained in Decision 
No. R04-0258. Hearing Exhibit 13.
22. As of December 12, 2014, Mr. Dassinger and/or Access Transportation Systems Inc. has been assessed civil penalties in three proceedings for a total amount of $25,700.00. Mr. Dassinger and/or Access Transportation Systems Inc. has paid a total of $400.00 toward the civil penalty assessments. Hearing Exhibit 14.
23. On December 22, 2010, an SCR was performed at Student Transportation Connections LLP.  The owner of Student Transportation Connections LLP is stated as Tony Dassinger in the report which was generated from the SCR. A total of 12 violations were documented in the SCR report. Hearing Exhibit 15.
24. A CPAN was not issued based upon the violations found during the SCR conducted on December 22, 2010.

25. In January of 2014, TJM was contacted by the Commission to arrange for an inspection of its vehicles.

26. On January 16, 2014, the inspection of TJM’s vehicles was conducted and two vehicles were placed out of service. One vehicle was taken out of service for defective bus emergency exits and multiple holes in the exhaust pipe. The other vehicle was taken out of service for defective bus emergency exits. Hearing Exhibit 16.
27. On September 11, 2014, an SCR was conducted at TJM. During the SCR a total of nine violations were noted by CI Riley. Hearing Exhibit 17.  Three of the violations
 found during the SCR conducted on September 11, 2014, were also found during the SCR conducted in December of 2010. Hearing Exhibit 18.
28. Mr. Tony Dassinger was present for the SCR and was the representative for TJM.  Mr. Dassinger initialed each page of the SCR and signed the last page as the owner of TJM. Hearing Exhibit 17.
29. During the investigation, CI Riley found that the safety and performance history document for TLM’s drivers had not been completed. Hearing Exhibit 19.
30. CI Riley also reviewed TJM’s hours of drivers’ service records for August 2014. CI Riley determined that TJM only accounted for hours on days when drivers had driven and failed to account for hours on days when drivers did not drive, contrary to requirements. Hearing Exhibit 20.

31. CI Riley examined drivers’ hours of service records for the following TJM Drivers who had been identified as drivers by Mr. Dassinger: Tony Dassinger, Bonifica Madril, Daniel Kiraly, and Anthony Arguello. CI Riley than transposed hand written records, provided by Mr. Dassinger, into hours-of-service worksheets. Hearing Exhibit 21.  

32. The handwritten hours of service records provided by Mr. Dassinger were incomplete for all drivers and also showed numerous violations of more hours in service than allowed for various time periods for drivers Nash, Madril, and Arguello. 

33. During the SCR conducted on September 11, 2014, CI Cummings performed a vehicle inspection on TJM’s five vehicles. All five vehicles were found to be in violation and put out of service. All of the vehicles were found to have exhaust leaks, two of which leaked exhaust fumes directly into the passenger compartment. Hearing Exhibit 22.  

34. As of the date of the hearing, there is no evidence that TJM has taken any steps to bring the vehicles back into service. Hearing Exhibit 24.
35. On October 15, 2014, CI Riley completed a CPAN alleging one violation of Rule 6102(a)(I) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 CCR 723-6 and 49 CFR § 391.23(a)(2), ten alleged violations of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6, and 49 CFR § 395.8(a). Hearing Exhibit 25.
36. Service of the CPAN was made on Tony Dassinger on October 18, 2014 via certified mail. Hearing Exhibit 26. 
37. On November 21, 2014, TJM was sent an “Order of Summary Suspension and Complaint and Notice of Hearing” concerning Commission Permits No. CAB-00028 and 
CSB-00201.  It was alleged that the Commission has received notice of cancelation of TJM’s insurance or surety insurance. A hearing on the matter was scheduled for December 8, 2014. 

38. On December 9, 2014, a hearing was held by ALJ Mirbaba. In Decision 
No. R14-1453, issued December 11, 2014 in Proceeding No. 14C-1126-INS, Commission Permits No. CAB-00028 and CSB-00201 were revoked as of the effective date of the Decision
.

III. APPLICABLE LAW
39. As the proponent of a Commission order, Complainant has the burden of persuasion in this proceeding pursuant to 4 CCR 723-1-1500 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure.

Section 40-7-116, C.R.S., mandates a number of procedures for the imposition of civil penalties by the Commission:  After specifying that the listed officials are the ones authorized to issue civil penalty assessments for violations of law, § 116(1)(a) states that, “When a person is cited for the violation, the person operating the motor vehicle involved shall be given notice of the violation in the form of a civil penalty assessment notice.”  Section 116(1)(b) further directs that the civil penalty assessment notice “shall be tendered by the 

40. enforcement official, either in person or by certified mail, or by personal service by a person authorized to serve process under rule 4(d) of the Colorado rules of civil procedure.” § 40-7-116, C.R.S.

41. Except as otherwise provided by statute, the Administrative Procedure Act imposes the burden of proof in administrative adjudicatory proceedings upon "the proponent of an order."  § 24-4-105(7), C.R.S.  As provided in Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-1-1500, “[t]he proponent of the order is that party commencing a proceeding.”  Here, Staff is the proponent since it commenced the proceeding through issuance of the CPAN.  Complainant bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence.  See, § 13-25-127(1), C.R.S.; 4 CCR 
723-1-1500.  The preponderance standard requires the finder of fact to determine whether the existence of a contested fact is more probable than its non-existence.  Swain v. Colorado Dept. of Revenue, 717 P.2d 507 (Colo. App. 1985).  While the quantum of evidence that constitutes a preponderance cannot be reduced to a simple formula, a party has met this burden of proof when the evidence, on the whole and however slightly, tips in favor of that party.

42. Proper service of the CPAN is vital.  “The mandatory requirements for valid service of process are fundamental because of the due process requirements of notice.” 
Bush v. Winker, 892 P.2d 328, 332 (Colo. App. 1994).      

IV. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS
43. In the instant case the CPAN was served on Tony Dassinger, the owner and designated agent for TJM by certified mail. 
44. Service was made in accordance with § 40-7-116, C.R.S.

45. The Respondent did not appear for the hearing and therefore no defense was presented to the alleged violations contained in the CPAN. 

46. The testimony of CI Riley was credible that at the time of the SCR, the Respondent did not provide documentation that an investigation of the driver safety performance of Ms. Madril was performed within 30 days of her employment.

47. The testimony of CI Riley was credible that at the time of the SCR, the Respondent did not provide proper documentation of a record of duty status for drivers Dassinger, Nash, Madril, Kiraly, and Arguello.

48. The Respondent was advised and made aware of the violation of Rule 6102(a)(I) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 CCR 723-6 and 49 CFR § 391.23(a)(2) as it was cited in the SCR conducted December 22, 2010.  In the final report of the 2010 SCR, Mr. Dassinger initialed each page and signed that the violations had been explained to him. 

49. The Respondent presented CI Riley with incomplete hours of duty worksheets for some of the drivers employed by TJM. Since Mr. Dassinger kept hours of duty records, albeit incomplete, shows that he had knowledge of the requirements of Rule 6102(a)(I) 4 CCR 723-6, and 49 CFR § 395.8(a).  Mr. Dassinger failed to appear for the hearing to dispute this inference.  
50. The Commission has determined that a violation is intentional within the meaning of § 40-7-113(1)(g), C.R.S., when a person is aware of a requirement or restriction and nonetheless commits an act, or fails to act, and that act or omission violates the requirement or restriction. Commission Decision No. C00-1075.

51. Since the Respondent was aware of these requirements the violations were intentional. 
52. Staff has met its burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence to show that the Respondent, committed one violation of failure to provide documentation that an investigation of the driver safety performance of Ms. Madril was performed within 30 days of her employment, and ten violations of failing to require a driver to make a record of duty status.
53. Having found violations of the cited regulations, it is necessary to determine the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed for these violations.  The Commission is authorized to consider aggravating or mitigating circumstances surrounding particular violations in order to fashion a penalty assessment that promotes the underlying purpose of such assessment. 
§ 40-7-113, C.R.S.
54. Pursuant to Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-1-1302(b):

The Commission may impose a civil penalty …will consider any evidence concerning some or all of the following factors:

i.
the nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;

ii.
the degree of the respondent’s culpability;

iii.
the respondent’s history of prior offenses;

iv.
the respondent’s ability to pay;

v.
any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;

vi.
the effect on the respondent’s ability to continue in business;

vii.
the size of the business of the respondent; and

viii.
such other factors as equity and fairness may require. 

55. The Respondent failed to appear for the hearing. No mitigation was presented. 

56. The welfare of the public is at stake with the safety and compliance review. 
It is through these reviews that the Commission can ensure the proper level of safety for all those on the roads of Colorado. These are important regulations and cannot be ignored or deemed unimportant. 

57. The undersigned ALJ is alarmed and appalled by the history of violations and the apparent lack of concern for the safety of the public exhibited by the Respondent.  Fortunately the violations were discovered before any serious injury was caused by the actions of the Respondent.

58. The Respondent has repeatedly been assessed civil penalties over the past decade.  The Respondent currently has $25,300 in unpaid assessments. The Respondent has shown a total lack of respect to the Commission and a total lack of concern for the public.

59. The Respondent has refused to abide by the rules, regulations, and statues promulgated by the Commission and the State Legislature. In addition, the Respondent has taken no responsibility for his decade of improper, illegal, and unsafe actions.

60. It is also noted that in the instant proceeding that the Respondent could have had additional violations assessed in the CPAN. 

61. For the foregoing reasons, the ALJ concludes that Respondent committed the violations as listed on CPAN No. 110542 between August 23, 2014 and September 11, 2014 and that the full assessment of the $5,775.00 civil penalty, including the mandatory surcharge is warranted.

62. Staff also requests a cease and desist order be issued in this proceeding. 

63. Section 40-10.1-112(1), C.R.S., authorizes the Commission to issue a cease and desist order.  That statute states, in relevant part:  


Except as specified in subsection (3) of this section, the commission, at any time, by order duly entered, after hearing upon notice to the motor carrier 

and upon proof of violation, may issue an order to cease and desist ... for the following reasons:  

 
(a)
A violation of [article 10.1 of title 40, C.R.S.,] or of any term or condition of the motor carrier’s certificate or permit;  

 
(b)
Exceeding the authority granted by a certificate or permit;  

 
(c)
A violation or refusal to observe any of the proper orders or rules of the commission.  

(Emphasis supplied.)  


64. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6008(c) provides:  


After a hearing upon at least ten days’ notice to the motor carrier affected, and upon proof of violation, the Commission may issue an order to cease and desist, suspend, revoke, alter, or amend any certificate or permit for the following reasons:  

 
(I)
a violation of, or failure to comply with, any statute, order, or rule concerning a motor carrier;  

65. In this case, Staff asks the Commission to issue the following cease and desist orders:
An order that Respondent shall cease and desist from operating as a motor carrier until such time that (a) all of Respondent’s drivers have full and complete driver files; (b) Respondent has filed proof of insurance or surety coverage; (c) Respondent has paid all outstanding penalties; and (d) Respondent has supplied evidence that all of its vehicles in service in intrastate commerce meet all operational and safety requirements under state and federal law.

An order that if Respondent fails to pay the civil penalty assessed within the time prescribed for payment, its certificates of registration shall be immediately revoked. Further, if Respondent’s permits are revoked for such nonpayment, Respondent, any owner, principal, officer, member, partner, or director, and any other entity owned or operated by any owner, principal, officer, member, partner, or director, shall be disqualified from applying for a permit for a period of five years following the due date of the civil penalty assessed in this proceeding.  
Staff’s Trial Brief at 9 and 10, footnote omitted.
66. The CPAN states:  “NOTICE:  Upon proof of any violation alleged above, the Public Utilities Commission may order you to cease and desist activities in violation of statutes and Commission rules.”  Hearing Exhibit No. 25 (italics and bolding in original).  Thus, Respondent had notice that a cease and desist order could issue in this proceeding.  In addition, Respondent had more than ten days’ notice of the evidentiary hearing in this matter.  Respondent did not participate in this proceeding in any way.  
67. The ALJ finds that cease and desist orders shall issue against Respondent in this proceeding since the Respondent has a long history of non-compliance with rules and regulations, has on numerous occasions endangered the safety of the general public, and has taken no responsibility for past actions.  

68. The ALJ agrees with the proposed cease and desist orders with a small modification. The Respondent’s permits were revoked in Proceeding No. 14G-0714EC, so the provision revoking permits contained in the second cease and desist order shall be removed.   

69. Respondent is advised, and is on notice, that violation of the cease and desist orders contained in this Decision may result in the Commission’s taking further action, both administrative and judicial, as permitted by statute.  

70. The ALJ finds that the combination of the maximum assessment and the cease and desist order achieves the following purposes:  (a) deterring future violations, whether by Respondent or by similarly-situated motor vehicle carriers; (b) motivating Respondent to come into compliance with the law; and (c) punishing Respondent for his past behavior.  
Thus, the maximum assessment and the cease and desist orders are reasonable, are in accord with Commission procedures and policy, and are in the public interest
71. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., the ALJ recommends that the Commission enter the following order.

V. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:  

1. As alleged in Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 110542, Respondent, TJM Holdings LLC, doing business as ATS (Respondent), violated one count of  Rule 6102(a)(I) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations 
723-6 and 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 391.23(a)(2), and ten counts of Rule 6102(a)(I) and 49 CFR § 395.8(a).  

2. Respondent is ordered to pay to the Commission within 30 days of the date that this Recommended Decision becomes the decision of the Commission, the sum of $5,775.00  This amount represents the total of the civil penalty assessed for the violations found in Ordering Paragraph No. 1 plus the mandatory surcharge imposed by § 24-34-108, C.R.S.

3. Respondent, Tony Dassinger and any company in which Tony Dassinger is or has been an owner shall cease and desist from operating as a motor carrier until such time that: 
(a) all drivers have full and complete driver files; (b) proof of insurance or surety coverage has been filed with the Commission; (c) outstanding penalties have been paid; and (d) evidence is supplied that all of its vehicles in service in intrastate commerce meet all operational and safety requirements under state and federal law.
4. If the Respondent fails to pay the civil penalty assessed within the time prescribed for payment, Respondent, any owner, principal, officer, member, partner, or director, and any other entity owned or operated by any owner, principal, officer, member, partner, or director, shall be disqualified from applying for a permit for a period of five years following the due date of the civil penalty assessed in this proceeding.
5. The cease and desist orders set out in Ordering Paragraphs No. 3 and No. 4 shall continue in effect until and unless modified by subsequent Commission decision
6. Proceeding No. 14G-1027EC is now closed.

7. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

8. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

a) If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.  

b) If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.  
9. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.  
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


ROBERT I. GARVEY
________________________________
                     Administrative Law Judge




� This would have been May 1, 2001.


� Hearing Exhibit 11.


� The violations were: 1) failure to investigate drivers’ safety performance history within 30 days of employment; 2) failure to maintain a driver investigation history file for drivers; and 3) failure to maintain an appropriate identification for vehicles.


� Proceeding No. 14C-1126-INS allowed for the revocation to be void if the required Certificate of Insurance was filed with the Commission prior to the effective date of the Recommended Decision. No filing was made by TJM. See Staff filing on January 7, 2015.


� Proceeding No. 99K-590CP issued September 29, 2000, Public Utilities Commission of the State of Colorado v. Valera Lea Holtorf doing business as Dashabout Shuttle Company and/or Roadrunner Express.
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